
 the me

eting to order.

�/�/�X Public CommentChair Hyde will offer those in 

attendance the opportunity for public comment.

�/�/�/�X Consent Agenda

- Draft February 15, 2024 Governance Committee Meeting Minutes

Proposed Action: Approval; Motion and Second Required

�/�s�X Approval of Newly Appointed and Reappointed Board Members for UNF Direct
Support Organizations (DSOs) 1:00 PM 

Pursuant to UNF’s Regulation governing University Direct Support Organizations, the 
Board of Trustees shall approve all appointments to the board of a University direct 
support organization other than the Chair’s representative(s) and the President or 
President’s designee.  As a condition to approval by the Board of Trustees, the 
designated officer or executive director of the direct support organization shall certify 
that each appointee has been selected in accordance with a documented process 
established by the direct support organization.   

UNF Foundation 
�x Raj Goswami (New Appointment: June 1, 2024-June 30, 2027)
�x Sam Inman (New Appointment: June 1, 2024-June 30, 2027)
�x Tom Lightcap (New Appointment: June 1, 2024-June 30, 2027)
�x Whitney Meyer (New Appointment: June 1, 2024-June 30, 2027)
�x Clint Pyle (New Appointment: June 1, 2024-June 30, 2027)
Proposed Action: Approval; Motion and Second Required

UNF Financing Corporation 
�x John “Jack” Allen (Renewal of Appointment: July 1, 2024-June 30, 2026)
�x Rad Lovett (Renewal of Appointment: July 1, 2024-June 30, 2026)
�x Joseph P. "Chuck" Moorer (Renewal of Appointment: July 1, 2024-June 30, 2026)

Proposed Action: Approval; Motion and Second Required



Governance Committee Meeting 
University of North Florida 
Thursday, June 6, 2024 at 1:00 PM to 2:00 PM 
Virtual 



Governance Committee Meeting 
University of North Florida 
Thursday, June 6, 2024 at 1:00 PM to 2:00 PM 
Virtual 

regular reviews pursuant to the Board Action Plan. This item will be presented by Robyn 
Blank, AVP and Chief Compliance and E



 

University of North Florida 

Board of Trustees 

Governance Committee Charter  
 
 

Section 1: ROLE AND PURPOSE 
 

The 



with the Board  to ensure that the charter is approved or reapproved by the 



 
 

   

ADOPTION OF CHARTER  
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the University of North Florida Board of Trustees 
reviewed and approved this charter at its regularly scheduled meeting on [DATE].  

 
 
 
 

 
        Moez Limayem 
        President 
 
 

 
Kevin Hyde  

       Chair, Governance Committee 
 
 

        
Kevin Hyde 
Chair, 



 

 

 
 
 

University  of North Florida  

Board of Trustees



 

 1 

 
Table of Contents  

 
Article I   Organization  
Section 1.  The Corporation 
Section 2.   Membership 
Section 3.  Powers and Duties of the Board of Trustees 
Section 4.  Duties of the President 
Section 5.  Powers and Duties of Officers 
Section 6.  Selection of Officers and Terms of Office 
Section 7.   Vacancies 
Section 8.  Board Committees 
Section 9.  Board Committee Functions 
 
Article II   Meetings 
Section 1.  Regular Meetings 
Section 2.  Special Meetings 
Section 3.  Emergency Meetings 
Section 4.  Notice of Meetings 
Section 5.  Special Notice Requirements 
Section 6.  Absences 
Section 7. Meetings by Means of Telephone Conference Calls and Other 

Communications Media Technology 
Section 8.  Quorum 
Section 9.  Voting 
Section 10.  Parliamentary Rules  
Section 11.  Agenda 
Section 12.  Minutes   
 
Article III   Appearances Before the Board  
 
Article IV   Amendment or Suspension of Bylaws 
 
Article V   Code of Ethics 
Section 1.  Preamble 
Section 2.  Conflict of Interests 
Section 3.  Employeel1t 0 612 72Y6Stu.998 (ec)d Tf
90.0(Intere)12.002 (s)-4.004 (t<</MCID 27 > (Intere)121tO1.04 I4 (0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 235.85 Td
[(EfrM0 17135.26 235.85 Tdal I re
W0TT1(.090T
Ee Td
( )Tj
E d
( )Tj
Gr.05 235.8oO1.04 I4 (p 0 6)Tj
ET
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
270.05 427.15 Td
[(Em)-5 (ploy)14235.85 Td
[(S)-23098 (ec)-5 (t)12.002 (i)-4.004 (on )5 (3.)]TJ
ET
Q
q
0 0 623 12 Tf

W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
135.26 235.85 Td
( )Tj
4T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
162.02 235.85 T23 12 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 235.85 T23 12 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 20(Inter23 12 Tf

Wter7135.26m235.85 Tdm)261.65  235.85 Tdtmr7135.262 re
W* n
B Td
T)8W0TT1(i)5W* 626m235.85 TdT
EMC 
/P <</MCID 28 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n9711.0T23 12 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0.41 Td
( )Tj
ET
EMC 
/H2 <</MCID 26 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/T101.65Tf
90.024 274.73 Td
[(Ar)3 (t314 (i)4 (cle V)]TJ
ET
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT1 1971
137.54 274.73 Td
( )Tj
ET
Q
Iq
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT1 12 Tf
162.02 300.53 Td
1971
137.
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT1 12 Tf
198.05 274.73 Td
1971
137.
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT1 12 Tf
198.05 274.0(Inte1971
137.54M4.73  )Tj
scel
( )T)Tj
ET
283.6eouMC 
/P <</MCID 27 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
6 12 1971
137.
q
0 0 61235.85 Td
[(S)-23298 (ec)-5 (t)12.002 (i)-4.004 (on )5 (3.)]TJ
ET
Q
q
0 0 181 12 Tf

W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
135.26 235.85 Td
( )Tj
1T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
162.02 235.85 181 12 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 235.85 181 12 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 20(Inte181 12 Tf

WIndemre)12.002 (165  235.85 Tdty
EMC 
/P <</MCID 28 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
6.89 181 12 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0235.85 Td
[(S)-23398 (ec)-5 (t)12.002 (i)-4.004 (on )5 (3.)]TJ
ET
Q
q
0 0 171.382 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
135.26 248.81 Td
( )Tj
ET
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
162.02 248.81 171.382 reT
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 235.85 171.382 reT
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 20(Inte171.382 reTFQ
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 20
W*3 171.382 re
W 248.81 Tds)261.65 c235.85 Tdal Y)261.65 ear
EMC 
/P <</MCID 28 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
8W*3 171.382 reT
Q
q
0 0235.85 Td
[(S)-23498 (ec)-5 (t)12.002 (i)-4.004 (on )5 (3.)]TJ
ET
Q
q
0 0 158.42 Tf

W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
135.26 235.85 Td
( )Tj
ET
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
162.02 235.85 158.42 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 235.85 158.42 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 20(Inte158.42 Tf

W* n
BT
/TTunsr7135.26hi7 261.65 n04 Tf
243 L)5W* 626aw09 248.81 TEMC 
/P <</MCID 28 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n68 12 158.42 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0235.85 Td
[(S)-23598 (ec)-5 (t)12.002 (i)-4.004 (on )5 (3.)]TJ
ET
Q
q
0 0 145.582 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
135.26 248.81 Td
( )Tj
4T
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
162.02 235.85 145.582 reT
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 235.85 145.582 reT
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n
BT
/TT0 11.04 Tf
198.05 20(Inte145.582 re
Wtere)12.002rpor 0 6)Tj
Eate Ser7135.26alTEMC 
/P <</MCID 28 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 612 792 re
W* n67.17 145.582 reT
Q
q
0 0.41 Td
( )Tj
ET
EMC 
/H2 <</MCID 26 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 612 7)]TJ
ET
Q
q
0 0 132.62 Tf
T
Q
q
0 0235.85
( )Tj
ET
EMC 
/H2 <</MCID 26 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 6123.)]TJ
ET
Q
q
0 0 119.782 reT
Q
q
0 0.41 Td
( )Tj
ET
EMC 
/H2 <</MCID 26 >>BDC 
Q
q
0 0 6123.



 

 2 

Statement of Purpose  
The laws of the State of Florida established the University of North Florida Board of 
Trustees in 2001. The Board of Trustees serves as the governing body of the 
University and discharges its governance responsibilities. The Board of Trustees 
selects the President for ratification by the Board of Governors, evaluates the 
performance of the President, and ensures implementation and maintenance of 
quality education programs and the sound fiduciary operation of the University. 
 
 

Article I  
Organization  

 
Section 1. The Corporation  
The University of North Florida Board o�ˆ�����”�—�•�–�‡�‡�•�����ò���‘�ƒ�”�†���‘�ˆ�����”�—�•�–�‡�‡�•�ó �‘�”���ò���‘�ƒ�”�†�ó) 



 

 3 

 
 
Section 3. Powers and Duties of the Board of Trustees  
The Board of Trustees shall serve as the governing body of the University of North 
�	�Ž�‘�”�‹�†�ƒ�����òUniversity�ó���ä�����–���•�Š�ƒ�Ž�Ž���•�‡�Ž�‡�…�–���–�Š�‡��President of the University of North Florida 
to serve at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees and shall hold the President 
responsible for the ���•�‹�˜�‡�”�•�‹�–�›�ï�• operation and management, performance, fiscal 
accountability, and compliance with federal and state laws and regulations, 
including those of the Florida Board of Governors.   
 
The Board of Trustees shall have the authority to carry out all lawful function s 
permitted by the Bylaws, its operating procedures, Board of Governors regulations, 
or law.  The Board may adopt regulations, rules, and policies consistent with the 
University mission, with law, and with the regulations and rules of the Florida Board 
of Governors, in order to effectively fulfill its obligations under the law.    
 
The Board of Trustees shall approve the mission statement and strategic plan for 
the University, each of which must be consistent with the strategic plan developed 
by the Florida Board of Governors. 
  
���Š�‡�����‘�ƒ�”�†���‘�ˆ�����”�—�•�–�‡�‡�•���•�Š�ƒ�Ž�Ž���ƒ�Ž�•�‘���™�‘�”�•���–�‘���’�”�‡�•�‡�”�˜�‡���–�Š�‡���‹�•�•�–�‹�–�—�–�‹�‘�•�ï�•���ƒ�•�†���‹�–�•���‘�™�•��
independence from undue political, religious, or outside influence; to ensure 
academic freedom; and to support the President of the University in discharging 
Presidential responsibilities for the operation and administration of the University.   
 
The Board of Trustees may delegate and provide for further delegation of any and 
all powers, subject to limits provided by law. 
 
Section 4. Duties of the President  
The University President shall serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the University.  
The University President shall be responsible for the operation and administration 
of the University, including efficient and effective budget and program 
administration, leading the University to accomplish its education mission and 
goals, monitoring educational and financial performance, consulting with the Board 
in a timely manner on matters appropriate to its policy-making and fiduciary 
�ˆ�—�•�…�–�‹�‘�•�•�á���ƒ�•�†���•�‡�”�˜�‹�•�‰���ƒ�•���–�Š�‡�����•�‹�˜�‡�”�•�‹�–�›�ï�•���•�‡�›���•�’�‘�•�‡�•�’�‡�”�•�‘�•�ä  The University 
President shall exercise such powers as are appropriate to their  position in 



 

 4 

The officers of the Board of Trustees are the Chair, Vice-Chair, and corporate 
secretary. 
 
A. Chair 
The Chair (or �ò���‘�ƒ�”�†�����Š�ƒ�‹�”�ó�� shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Trustees 
and call special meetings of the Board when necessary. The Board Chair will have 
the responsibility to appoint standing and ad-hoc committees, including the Chairs 
of these committees, and will serve as an ex-officio voting member of all Board 
committees. The Board Chair shall also attest to actions taken by the Board and 
serve as the spokesperson for the Board.  
 
B. Vice Chair  
The Vice-Chair shall act as Chair and perform duties of the Board Chair during the 
absence or disability of the Board Chair. 
 
C. Corporate Secretary 
The Board Chair, jointly with the  University Presir 

4 (ty o)y
ET
QlawET
Q,rfexecutthe 



 

 5 

The Finance and Facilities Committee shall review and recommend for 
consideration by the Board policies related to the financial functions of the 
University, and its affiliated organizations, and policies affecting physical plant and 
real property. In carrying out these responsibilities, the committee will monitor the 
���•�‹�˜�‡�”�•�‹�–�›�ï�•���ˆ�‹�•�ƒ�•�…�‹�ƒ�Ž���ƒ�•�†���ˆ�ƒ�…�‹�Ž�‹�–�‹�‡�•���‘�’�‡�”�ƒ�–�‹�‘�•�•�á���‘�˜�‡�”�•�‡�‡���ƒ�•�•�—�ƒ�Ž���ƒ�•�†���Ž�‘�•�‰-range 
operating budgets, oversee requests and plans for debt and capital projects, and 
oversee master planning and major obligations of institutional resources.  The 
Board Chair shall appoint the members of the Finance and Facilities Committee and 
designate one (1) to serve as the committee Chair and one (1) as the committee Vice 
Chair.  
 
To the best of their  ability, the Board Chair will ensure that the Chair of the Finance 
and Facilities Committee has applicable financial knowledge and that the 
membership of the committee includes the most fiscally knowledgeable trustees.  
 
Audit and Compliance Committee  

The Audit and Compliance Committee shall assist the Board in discharging its 
oversight responsibilities. The Audit and Compliance Committee will oversee the 



 

 6 

Board performance, periodically reviewing Board governance, and providing 
recommendations concerning best practices in corporate governance. The 
Governance Committee shall review charter documents for new committees formed 
�’�—�”�•�—�ƒ�•�–���–�‘���–�Š�‡�����‘�ƒ�”�†�ï�•���„�›-laws and recommend to the Board appointments to the 
���•�‹�˜�‡�”�•�‹�–�›�ï�•���ƒ�ˆ�ˆ�‹�Ž�‹�ƒ�–�‡�†���‘�”�‰�ƒ�•�‹�œ�ƒ�–�‹�‘�•�•���ƒ�•�†�����‹�”�‡�…�–�����—�’�’�‘�”�–�����”�‰�ƒ�•�‹�œ�ƒ�–�‹�‘�•�•���ƒ�•�†���•�Š�ƒ�Ž�Ž��
�’�”�‘�˜�‹�†�‡���”�‡�˜�‹�‡�™���‘�ˆ���–�Š�‡�����•�‹�˜�‡�”�•�‹�–�›�ï�•���ƒ�…�…�”�‡�†�‹�–�ƒ�–�‹�‘�• status and obligations.  The Board 
Chair shall appoint the members of the Governance Committee and designate one 
(1) to serve as the committee Chair and one (1) as the committee Vice Chair.  
 
 
Strategic Plan Implementation and Monitoring Committee 
The Strategic Plan Implementation and Monitoring Committee shall review, support, 
and make recommendations to the Board regarding monitoring of the progress 
toward strategic plan goals for the University; provide oversight of the 
implementation of the strategic plan and monitor its performance; and review key 
performance indicators and performance metrics, making proposed revisions when 
appropriate.  The Board Chair shall appoint the members of the Strategic Plan 
Implementation and Monitoring Committee and designate one (1) to serve as the 
committee Chair and one (1) as the committee Vice Chair. 
 
Ad Hoc Committees 
The Chair of the Board may establish additional ad hoc committees, composed of a 
minimum of three (3) members, as deemed necessary for the orderly conduct of the 
business of the Board.  The Board Chair shall designate one (1) member to serve as 
committee Chair and one (1) as the committee Vice Chair of any ad hoc committee. 
 
Section 9



 

 7 

All meetings of the Board and its committees shall be open and noticed to the public 
in accordance with Chapter 286, Florida Statutes.  No resolution, regulation, or other 
formal or official action shall be considered binding except as taken or made at such 
meeting in accordance with section 286.011, Florida Statutes, unless the matter 
being discussed falls within the provision of law allowing closed sessions.  
 
Section 1. Regular Meetings 
The Board of Trustees will meet no fewer than four (4) times per fiscal year, at a 
time and place designated by the Board Chair. A regular meeting means business 
meetings and Board retreats held at regular intervals; provided that time shall be 
made available when needed for the conduct of business at or around the time of 
any retreats.  Meetings of the Board are open to the public and all official acts will be 
taken at public meetings. The schedule of meetings is available on the University of 
North Florida Board of Trustees website. 
 
Section 2. Special Meetings 
Special meetings of the Board, including hearings and workshops, may be called by 
the Board Chair, the University President, or upon request of seven (7) Trustees.  
The corporate secretary shall send written notice of such special meeting to all 
Trustees, along with a statement of the purpose of the meeting, at least 48 hours in 
advance. No matter may be considered at any special meeting that was not included 
in the call of that meeting except by a vote of nine (9) trustees. 
 
Section 3. Emergency Meetings 
Emergency meetings of the Board may be called by the Board Chair upon such 
notice as is reasonable under the circumstances whenever in the opinion of the 
Board Chair, an issue requires immediate Board action. Such meetings shall be open 
to the public and the Board shall provide such notice of the meeting as is reasonable 
under the circumstances. Whenever such emergency meeting is called, the Board 
Chair will notify the corporate secretary. The corporate secretary will immediately 
serve either verbal or written notice upon each member of the Board, stating the 
date, hour and place of the meeting and the purpose for which the meeting has been 
called. No other business will be transacted at the meeting unless additional 
emergency matters are agreed to by a majority of those Board members in 
attendance. The minutes of each emergency meeting will show the manner and 
method by which notice of such emergency meeting was given to each member of 
the Board. 
 
Section 4. Notice of Meetings 
Notice of meetings will be provided in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 
286, Florida Statutes.  Notice of meetings will be posted on the Board of Trustees 
website and the University of North Florida calendar.    
 
Section 5. Special Notice Requirements  



 

 8 

In the event the Board of Trustees will consider a proposal to increase tuition or 
fees at an upcoming board meeting, notice of such proposal shall be posted at least 
28 days before its consideration at a Board of Trustees meeting. The notice must: 

(i ) Include the date and time of the meeting at which the proposal will be 
considered, 

(ii) Specifically outline the details of existing tuition and fees, the rationale 
for the proposed increase, and how the funds from the proposed increase will be 
used, and 

(iii) Be posted on the ���•�‹�˜�‡�”�•�‹�–�›�ï�• website and issued in a press release.  
 
Section 6. Absences. 
The Board Chair shall notify the Governor or the Board of Governors, as applicable, 
in writing whenever a board member has three (3) consecutive unexcused absences 
from regular board meetings in any fiscal year, which may be grounds for removal 
by the Governor or the Board of Governors, as applicable. 
 
Section 7. Use of Technology 
The Board may use telephone conference calls and other communications media 
technology to conduct Board business in the same manner as if the proceeding were 
held in person. The notice of any meeting which is to be conducted by means of 
communication media technology will state where and how members of the public 
may gain access to the meeting.  
 
Section 8. Quorum 
A quorum for the conduct of business by the full Board shall consist of seven (7) 
trustees. A quorum for all standing committees shall consist of three (3) members of 
the committee. A quorum for all ad hoc committees shall consist of a majority of the 
voting members of the committee. 
 
Section 9. Voting 
The decision of the majority of the trustees in attendance and voting on an issue 
shall prevail. A trustee may abstain from voting only under those circumstances 
prescribed by law. Voting by proxy or by mail is prohibited. 
 
Section 10. Parliamentary Rules  
Roberts Rules of Order, newly revised, will be followed in conducting the meetings of 
the Board, unless otherwise provided by the Board. 
 
Section 11. Agenda 
The University President shall be responsible for setting the agenda for meetings of 
the Board in consultation with the Board Chair.      
  
A. Consent Agenda 
Items that are routine, procedural, informational and self-explanatory may be 
placed on the consent agenda.  Items proposed for the consent agenda will be made 
available to all Board members in advance of the complete Board meeting materials. 



 

 9 

Minutes from the prior Board meeting and unanimously approved action items from 
committee meetings will also be placed on the agenda as consent agenda items. 
Prior to the full Board meeting, the Board Chair or either committee Chair may 
choose to have any specific item from a committee meeting placed on the discussion 
section of the agenda. In addition, any trustee may request that a specific item be 
moved to the discussion section of the agenda.     
 
B. Additio nal Agenda Items  
Requests for inclusion of other items on the agenda of a meeting shall be put in 
writing and filed, together with any supporting documents, with the University 
President sufficiently far in advance of the meeting to permit a determination to be 
made by the University President, in consultation with the Board Chair, with respect 
to the propriety and practicability of including that item on the agenda for the 
meeting. The University President will assemble the items received, with sufficient 
time to prepare the agenda in advance of each meeting and provide a copy of the 
agenda to each member of the Board at least three (3) days prior to the meeting. If 
additional items or supporting documentation become available, a supplemental 
agenda may be provided at least one (1) day prior to the meeting. When needed, 
additional items may be placed on the agenda at the time of a meeting, at the 
discretion of the Board Chair.       
 
Section 12. Minutes  

Minutes of the meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be kept by the corporate 
secretary, who shall cause them to be printed and preserved and who shall transmit 
copies to the members of the Board of Trustees and to other places as deemed 
appropriate. All lengthy reports shall be referred to in the minutes and shall be kept 
on file as part of the University records, but such reports need not be incorporated 
in the minutes except when so ordered by the Board of Trustees.  
 
No later than two (2) weeks following a meeting of the Board of Trustees, an 
unapproved draft of detailed minutes shall be posted prominently on the 
���•�‹�˜�‡�”�•�‹�–�›�ï�• website, which shall include the vote history and attendance of each 
trustee. 
 
 
 

Article III  
Appearances Before the Board  

 
The Board shall allow for a public comment period during each Board and 
committee meeting. Individuals or representatives of groups who desire to appear 
before the Board regarding any item being considered on a meeting agenda of the 
Board of Trustees must submit their requests by email to unf-bot@unf.edu or 
through such other means as may be identified on the Board of Trustees website. 
Such a request must be submitted at least three (3) working days prior to the start 



 

 10 

of the meeting and must specify the agenda item about which the speaker wishes to 
speak. The corporate secretary, in consultation with the Board Chair, will determine 
whether the item will be heard and when it will be heard. There will be a three (3) 
minute time limit on any presentation and the public comment period shall be 
limited to fifteen (15) minutes. As permitted by section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, 
the Board Chair may decline to hear any matter that does not relate to a particular 
agenda item; is not practicable for a particular meeting; or �‹�•���‘�—�–�•�‹�†�‡���–�Š�‡�����‘�ƒ�”�†�ï�•��
jurisdiction. Those requesting to speak shall be called upon on a first-come first-
serve basis. The Board Chair is authorized to implement other reasonable 
procedures for the smooth and effective operation of the public comment period.     
 
At their discretion  the Board Chair may further recognize any individual to address 
the Board during the discussion of a particular agenda item.  
 
In order to proceed with the essential business of the Board in an orderly manner, 
any individual who attempts to disrupt a Board meeting will be subject to 
appropriate action pursuant to law.   
 
 
 

Article IV  
Amendment or Suspension of Bylaws  

 
These bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed by a vote of seven (7) trustees in 
attendance and voting at any regular or special meeting, when notice of the 
proposed amendment or repeal is provided in the meeting notice.   
 
Any provision of these bylaws may be suspended at any time in connection with the 
consideration of a matter before the Board by an affirmative vote of not less than 
nine (9) members of the Board. 
 

 
Article V  

Code of Ethics 
 
Section 1. Preamble 
Authority rests with the Board of Trustees as a whole in meetings of the Board and 
not with individual Board members. Trustees shall conduct relationships with 
University staff, students, the citizenry and the media on that basis. Trustees will 
confine their Board action to policy-making, planning and appraisal, recognizing 
that their responsibility is to ensure that the University is well run and not to run 
the University.   
 



 

 11 

Trustees stand in a fiduciary relationship to the University.  Therefore, members of 
the Board of Trustees shall be guided by the provisions set forth in Florida law for 
the conduct of public officers, including the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 
Employees, Chapter 112, Part III, Florida Statutes. 
 
Section 2. Conflicts of Interest  
A trustee shall be considered to have a conflict of interest if (1) such trustee has 
existing or potential financial or other interest that impairs or might reasonably 
�ƒ�’�’�‡�ƒ�”���–�‘���‹�•�’�ƒ�‹�”���•�—�…�Š���•�‡�•�„�‡�”�ï�•���‹�•�†�‡�’�‡�•�†�‡�•�–�á���—�•�„�‹�ƒ�•�‡�†���Œ�—�†�‰�•�‡�•�–���‹�•���–�Š�‡���†�‹�•�…�Š�ƒ�”�‰�‡��
of his or her responsibilities to the University, or (2) such trustee is aware that a 
member of his or her family, or any organization in which such trustee (or member 
of his or her family) is an officer, director, employee, member, partner, trustee, or 
controlling stockholder, has such existing or potential financial or other interest. For 
the purposes of this provision, a family member is defined as a spouse, parents, 
siblings, children, and any other relative if the latter resides in the same household 
as the trustee.   
 
All trustees shall disclose to the Board any possible conflicts of interest at the 
earliest practical time. In such cases, the trustee shall absent themself from 
discussions of, and abstain from voting on, such matters under consideration by the 
Board of Trustees or its committees. The minutes of such meeting shall reflect that a 
disclosure was made and that the trustee who has a conflict or possible conflict 
abstained from discussion and voting.  
 
Furthermore, a trustee shall not use the authority, title, influence, or prestige of his 
or her position to solicit business for others or otherwise obtain a private financial, 
social, or political benefit, which in any manner would be inconsistent with the 
interest and mission of the University, nor shall a trustee disclose confidential 
�‹�•�ˆ�‘�”�•�ƒ�–�‹�‘�•���‰�ƒ�‹�•�‡�†���„�›���”�‡�ƒ�•�‘�•���‘�ˆ���–�Š�‡���–�”�—�•�–�‡�‡�ï�•���’�‘�•�‹�–�‹�‘�•���ˆ�‘�”���’�‡�”�•�‘�•�ƒ�Ž���‰�ƒ�‹�•�á���„�‡�•�‡�ˆ�‹�–���‘�”��
to secure special privileges or exemption for him or herself or others.  
 
Any trustee who is uncertain whether a conflict of interest may exist in any matter 
may �•�‡�‡�•���‰�—�‹�†�ƒ�•�…�‡���ˆ�”�‘�•���–�Š�‡�����•�‹�˜�‡�”�•�‹�–�›�ï�•���
�‡�•�‡�”�ƒ�Ž�����‘�—�•�•�‡�Ž���‘�”�����–�Š�‹�…�•�����ˆ�ˆ�‹�…�‡�”�á���‘�” 
request that the Board of Trustees or committee resolve the question in his or her 
absence by majority vote. Each trustee shall annually complete and sign a disclosure 
form provided by the University, any forms required by the Florida Commission on 
Ethics, and comply with any other reasonable disclosure or information requests 
related to ethical matters. 
 
Section 3. Employees, Students and Special Interest Groups  
Trustees shall use appropriate channels when dealing with employees, students, 
citizens and special interest groups. Trustees will not give directions or instructions 
to University employees, but will provide input and suggestions to the President 
who is responsible for the day-to-day management of the University.   
 



 

 12 

Trustees should refer any grievances or complaints received from or about 
employees, students or University matters to the President. Trustees shall not 
attempt to influence hiring or other personnel decisions (e.g. tenure 
recommendations, promotions, retention, pay, work assignments, evaluations, 
disciplinary actions) affecting University employees, except with respect to the 
President. Trustees shall not attempt to influence decisions related to the admission 
of students to the University or degree programs, or decisions related to the award 
of financial aid or scholarships. 
 
Section 4. Commitment of Time  
In undertaking the duties of office, trustees shall make the necessary commitment of 
time and diligence to carry out public governance and policy-making 
responsibilities. It is, thus, the responsibility of trustees to attend all regularly 



 

 13 

 
 



Resolution on Presidential Authority  
Updated & Approved  June 13, 2024 

 WHEREAS, Article IX, section 7(c), Florida Constitution provides that the Board of Governors 
shall establish the powers and duties of the university board of trustees as set forth therein and 
as may be established in Board of Governors' regulations, and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Governors amended Regulation 1.001, University Boards of Trustees 
Powers and Duties (the Regulation), at its November 2022 meeting which supersedes the 
delegation of authority to the boards of trustees contained in the Board of Governors' 
Resolution dated January 7, 2003, and 

 WHEREAS, the Regulation delegates powers and duties to the university boards of trustees so 
that the university boards have all of t he powers and duties necessary and appropriate for the 
direction, operation, management, and accountability of each state university, and  

WHEREAS, the R



o (b) 



o (m) Establish the program for campus safety and emergency preparedness, 
including safety and security measures for University personnel, students, and 
campus visitors. 

o (n



�ƒ 



relationship to the Board of Trustees: the General Counsel, the Chief Audit 
Executive and the Chief Compliance Officer. 

o (d) Approve travel in accordance with s. 112.061, F.S. 

o (e) Serve as the University representative with regard to administering collective 
bargaining matters; appointing members to the collective bargaining teams to 
negotiate agreements on behalf of the Board of Trustees; and signing final 
agreements for the Board of Trustees after ratification by collective bargaining 
units. 

o (f) Report on evaluation and compensation of staff and faculty in accordance 
with ss. 1001.706, 1001.741, and 1012.978, F.S. 

�x (4) Financial Management 

o (a) Keep the Board of Trustees apprised of the financial condition of the 
University and any direct support organizations certified by the Board of 
Trustees or affiliated organizations subject to the oversight of the Board of 
Trustees. 

o (b) Prepare an institutional budget request, including a request for fixed capital 
outlay, and an operating budget for approval by the Board of Trustees.  

o (c) Recommend to the Board of Trustees a schedule of tuition and fees to be 
charged by the University, within law and regulations of the Board of Governors, 
and regulations and policies of the Board of Trustees. The President may 
establish the fee schedules for services and equipment provided on a cost 
recovery basis and which are not a part of the required costs for enrolling in 
academic coursework or for housing. Examples of these fees and fines include, 
but are not limited to, child care services provided to the public, fines or 
penalties for lost or damaged property and facility rentals.  

o (d) Recommend to the Board of Trustees a regulation for the waiver for tuition 
and fees pursuant to law and regulations established by the Board of Governors. 

o (e) Account for expenditures of all state, local, federal, and other funds in 
accordance with guidelines or regulations established by the Board of Governors, 
and as provided by state or federal law. 

o (f) In accordance with the provisions of s. 1011.40, F.S., prepare the operating 
budget of the University as prescribed by law, regulations of the Board of 
Governors, policies of the Board of Trustees, and provisions of the General 
Appropriations Act, for approval by the Board of Trustees. The proposed 
expenditures, plus transfers, and balances shall not exceed the estimated income, 
transfers, and balances. The budget and each part thereof shall balance. If at any 
time the unencumbered balance in the education and general fund of the Board 



of Trustees approved operating budget goes below 5 percent, the President shall 
provide written notification to the Board of Governors.  

o (g) Enter into agreements for, and accept, credit card payments as compensation 
for goods, services, tuition, and fees. 

o (h) Establish policies and procedures for the performance of annual internal 
audits of University finances and operations. All reports generat



o (p) Establish policies and procedures to implement appropriate financial controls 
with review by the �X�Q�L�Y�H�U�V�L�W�\�·�V���L�Qternal auditor.  

�x (5) Property and Purchasing. 

o (a) Administer a program for the maintenance and construction of facilities 
pursuant to Chapter 1013, F.S.; certify to the Board of Governors or Department 
of Education, as requested, a project's compliance with the requirements for 
expenditure of Public Education Capital Outlay (PECO) funds.  

o (b) Act for the Board of Trustees as custodian of all University property.  

o (c) Approve and execute contracts for the purchase, sale, lease, license, or 
acquisition of commodities, goods, equipment, and contractual services, leases of 
real and personal property, and construction. The acquisition may include 
purchase by installment or lease-



o (g) Protect, develop, and transfer the work products of University personnel and 
other University agents and contractors, which authority shall include but not be 
limited to licensing, assigning, selling, leasing, or otherwise allowing the use of 
or conveying such work products and securing and enforcing patents, 
copyrights, and trademarks on such products. 

o (h) In accordance with s. 705.18, F.S., and Board of Governors' regulation, take 
charge of any lost or abandoned personal property found on the University 
campus or on premises owned or controlled by the University or any direct 
support o rganization thereof. If the property is not claimed by the owner within 
30 days after it is found, or a longer period of time as may be deemed 
appropriate by the President, the President or designee shall dispose of or make 
use of the property in accordance with established policies and procedures that 
best meet the needs of the University. 

o (i) Prepare a campus master plan for adoption by the Board of Trustees, and 
prepare a campus development agreement for execution by the Board of 
Trustees, pursuant to s. 1013.30, F.S., and report on progress under the master 
plan. 

o (j) Recommend for adoption and promulgation by the Board of Trustees, 
regulations establishing basic criteria related to procurement, including 
procedures and practices to be used in acquiring commodities and contractual 
services, in accordance with Board of Governors' regulations. 

o (k) Exercise responsibility for the fire safety and sanitation of public educational 
and ancillary plants.  

�x (6) Miscellaneous Powers and Duties. 

o (a) In accordance with s. 1004.28, F.S. and Board of Governors Regulation, 
recommend to the Board of Trustees for final approval, the creation and 
certification, as well as the de-certification and dissolution, of direct support 
organizations, and any other affiliated organizati on of the University whose 
authorizing legislation, bylaws , or agreement with the University so requires, in 
order to serve the needs or further the interests of the University.  

o (b) Appoint a representative to the governing boards of each direct support 
organization or any other affiliated organization of the University. Prior to 
appointing representatives to the governing boards of direct support 
organizations or any other affiliated organization of the University, the President 
shall consult with the Chair of the Board of Trustees, or other trustee designee. 

o (c) Accept gifts, grants, bequests, and devises on behalf of the University.  

o (d) In accordance with the terms specified by the donor, to designate the purpose 
for which, and the location at which, the income and/or principal of a gift shall 
be used and to make allocations in accordance therewith. 



o 



authority being delegated and a copy of such delegation is filed with the 
delegee and with the Vice President and General Counsel of the 
University, and a table of the delegations is provided to the Board of 
Trustees. Although the president may re-delegate to appropriate officials, 
the president retains the final authority and responsibility for the 
administration of the university and may condition, limit, or revoke any 
delegated signature authorities at any time. Authorities the President 
reserves may not be exercised by any other person, unless expressly 
authorized by administrative policy or presidential directive.  

o (l) Initiate and settle lawsuits and claims, and appeal adverse rulings in 
accordance with the provisions of the UNF Board of Trustees Delegation of 
Authority approved June 20, 2006, when doing so would be in the best interests 
of the University ; join amicus briefs after consultation with the Chair of the 
Board of Trustees. 

�ƒ For claims up to $250,000, the President or designee may take action. 

�ƒ For claims above $250,000, the President will consult with  the Chair of the 
Board of Trustees.  

�ƒ The President or designee shall report all actions above $250,000 to the 
full Board.  

  

o (m) Perform such other duties as the Board of Trustees may determine are 
necessary or appropriate for the administration of the University, in compliance 
with any applicable laws and Board of Governors' regulations and policies, and 
resolutions. 

o (n



�x (7) Review. 

o 



�8�1�)���%�R�D�U�G���R�I���7�U�X�V�W�H�H�V�������6�H�O�I���$�V�V�H�V�V�P�H�Q�W���6�X�U�Y�H�\�� 
 

�+�L�J�K���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�L�Q�J���E�R�D�U�G�V���F�R�P�P�L�W���W�R���U�H�J�X�O�D�U���V�H�O�I



����


	certified.rk.6.6.24 Gov Agenda.pdf
	Agenda
	I. Call to Order
	II. Public Comment
	III. Consent Agenda
	IV. Approval of Newly Appointed and Reappointed Board Members for UNF Direct Support Organizations (DSOs) 1:00 PM
	V. UNF Institutional Accreditation Review and Update 1:15 PM
	VI. Review of Governance Committee Charter 1:20 PM
	VII. Review of Board of Trustees Bylaws 1:25 PM
	VIII. Review of Resolution on Presidential Authority 1:35 PM
	IX. Review of Board Self Assessment Tool 1:40 PM
	X. Annual Update on Progress of Board Action Plan 1:55 PM
	XI. Adjournment 2:00 PM


	certified.rf.2024 Governance Charter NEW TEMPLATE JUNE BOT.pdf
	certified.rf.Draft BOT Bylaws JUNE 2024 DS clean.pdf
	certified.rf.Resolution on Presidential Authority May 2024 REDLINES v. 2.0 DS clean.pdf
	2.15.24 Draft BOT Survey.pdf



